IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

FEB 1 8 2020

Jorge Navarrete (Clerk

Deputy

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

PLAINTIFF AND RESPONDENT.

V.

Case No. S254554

VERONICA AGUAYO,

DEFENDANT AND APPELLANT.

ON REVIEW OF A PARTIALLY PUBLISHED DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LINNÉA M. JOHNSON

STATE BAR NO. 093387 100 EL DORADO STREET, SUITE C AUBURN, CA 95603 TEL: 916.850.5818 EMAIL: LMJLAW2@ATT.NET

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

BY APPOINTMENT OF THE

CALIFORNIA SUPREME COURT UNDER THE APPELLATE DEFENDERS, INC. INDEPENDENT CASE SYSTEM

RECEIVED

FEB 1 8 2020

CLERK SUPREME COURT

Statement of the Case

On October 20, 2017, a jury convicted Veronica Aguayo of assault with a deadly weapon (count two) and a separate count of assault by means

likely to produce great bodily injury (count three), in violation of Penal Code section 245, subdivisions (a)(1) and (a)(4) respectively. The jury was unable to reach a verdict as to count one, elder abuse, and returned a verdict as to the lesser included offense of willful cruelty to an elder. The trial court declared a mistrial on count one, and declared the guilty verdict on the willful cruelty verdict to be invalid because the jury was unable to reach a verdict on the elder abuse charge. (1 C.T. pp. 141,145; 4 R.T. pp. 666-670, 676.)

On November 27, 2017, the court suspended imposition of sentence for three years and placed Ms. Aguayo on probation, on the condition that she serve 365 days in jail. (1 C.T. p. 111; 5 R.T. p. 693.)

On December 22, 2017, Ms. Aguayo timely filed a notice of appeal. (1 C.T. p. 116.) On January 28, 2019, the appellate court affirmed Ms. Aguayo's convictions under Penal Code section 245, subdivisions (a)(1) and (a)(4), finding under the elements test, (a)(4) is not a lesser included offense of (a)(1). The appellate court also found that the (a)(1) offense was committed with the bicycle chain/lock, and the (a)(4) offense was committed with the chiminea. (*People v. Aguayo* (2019) 31 Cal.App.5th 758, 760, 764-

All subsequent undesignated statutory citations are to the Penal Code, and all future references to section 245, subdivisions (a)(1) and (a)(2) will be to "subdivision (a)(1)" and "subdivision (a)(4), or simply "(a)(1)" and "(a)(4.)"

765 (Aguayo).).

On March 8, 2019, Ms. Aguayo timely filed a petition for review. On May 1, 2019, this Court granted Ms. Aguayo's petition for review, but suspended briefing pending its decision in *People v. Aledamat* (2019) 8 Cal.5th 1 (*Aledamat*), which was filed on August 26, 2019. On November 20, 2019, this Court directed the parties to file briefs.

Statement of Facts

On August 8, 2017, at approximately 4 p.m., then 43-year old Veronica Aguayo (Ms. Aguayo) was working on her bicycle outside her parents' home. (1 C.T. p. 93; 2 R.T. pp. 232, 234.) Ms. Aguayo's mother, Margaret Aguayo (Mrs. Aguayo), asked her husband (Veronica's father), Luis Aguayo, (Mr. Aguayo) to go outside and water the yard. Mrs. Aguayo heard her husband turn the sprinklers on. He was outside for five to eight minutes before Mrs. Aguayo heard her daughter, Ms. Aguayo, yelling. (3 R.T. pp. 339-340.)

The only people who witnessed the entire altercation were the participants, Ms. Aguayo and her father. Ms. Aguayo and her father each testified to what had happened before any of their family members came to the door to see what the ruckus was about. Ms. Aguayo and her father agreed that when Mr. Aguayo turned on the sprinklers, Ms. Aguayo's cell

phone or charger got wet, causing them to start arguing. (2 R.T. pp. 261, 3 R.T. pp. 395, 452-453.)

According to Ms. Aguayo, she confronted her father about her phone charger getting wet, to which he responded: "This is my house. I do what I want because this is my house." (3 R.T. pp. 452-453.) Ms. Aguayo called him a name and Mr. Aguayo came at her, but she did not "go at him" and did not start hitting him. (3 R.T. pp. 455, 457.)

According to Mr. Aguayo, however, he told his daughter not to call him names, and that is when she "came at him" with her bike lock and chain. Mr. Aguayo described the bike lock and chain as coated with a plastic or rubber lining. He said Ms. Aguayo hit him in the back with it. (2 R.T. p. 159, 172.) Then they struggled over control of it. Mr. Aguayo slipped and let go of the lock, and that is when Ms. Aguayo hit him with the bike lock in the head and on his arms and chest. When he tried to regain control of the bike lock, Ms. Aguayo would not let go. (2 R.T. pp. 159-160.)

According to Mr. Aguayo, his daughter struck him about 15 times on the chest and arms, three times on his back, and a total of 50 times altogether. (2 R.T. pp. 160-161, 240, 245; 3 R.T. p. 396.) When Ms. Aguayo slipped and fell, Mr. Aguayo fell on top of her, and she began yelling "Mom," and grabbed the chiminea (the ceramic pot) and threw it at Mr. Aguayo (2 R.T. pp. 162-165.) Then Mr. Aguayo grabbed a rock. (2

R.T. p. 164.) But Jesus Christ told Mr. Aguayo not to throw it at his daughter, so he tossed it against the wall; however, the rock ricocheted off the wall and hit Ms. Aguayo in the side of the head. At this point, Mr. Aguayo was lying on top of his daughter and he was in pain. (2 R.T. p. 166.) But according to Ms. Aguayo, her father grabbed the chiminea and it ricocheted off the wall and hit her in the head, after which he picked up a rock and threw it at her head. (3 R.T. pp. 467-468.)

After Mr. Aguayo got up, Mrs. Aguayo saw what was going on. (2 R.T. p. 167.) Mrs. Aguayo and the husband of Veronica's sister, Derek Scott, witnessed the end of the altercation, but neither of them saw Ms. Aguayo strike her father. (2 R.T. pp. 134; 3 R.T. pp. 355-356, 374-375.)

Mrs. Aguayo testified that when she heard her husband calling for her, she went to the door and she saw Ms. Aguayo and her husband in front of the gate, having a tug-o-war over the bike chain and lock. Mr. Scott heard Mr. Aguayo yelling at Ms. Aguayo to get out, and saw she had a rock in her hand, like she was going to throw it at her father. Mr. Scott thought Mr. Aguayo had the bicycle chain. (3 R.T. pp. 370-371.) Mr. Scott did not see Ms. Aguayo swing the bicycle chain or throw the rock at her father. (2 R.T. pp. 374-375.)

Mrs. Aguayo testified that from the door she hollered to her husband to get back in the house. (2 R.T. pp. 306-307.) Either Mr. Aguayo won the

tug-o-war, or Ms. Aguayo let go of the chain and lock, because he had it in his hand when he starting walking to the house. (2 R.T. p. 307.) Mrs. Aguayo also saw her daughter with a rock in her hand, although it did not look to her like she was going to throw it. (2 R.T. p. 308.) In fact, she saw Ms. Aguayo drop the rock, and ask for her bike chain back from her father. Mrs. Aguayo saw her husband throw the chain back to Ms. Aguayo. (2 R.T. p. 309; 3 R.T. p. 425.)

Morgan Byers, the lead officer, contacted Mr. Aguayo and described him as incoherent and "out of it," but she did not interview him or document his injuries (3 R.T. pp. 405, 421-422.) Mr. Aguayo reported that his daughter had left on a bicycle. (3 R.T. pp. 405-406.) Almost five hours later, Officer Byers stopped Ms. Aguayo for running a red light on her bicycle. (3 R.T. p. 406.) Before booking Ms. Aguayo into the jail, Officer Byers took her to the hospital for a medical clearance. (3 R.T. p. 407.) She testified that she did this because Ms. Aguayo complained that she was struck with a 50-pound rock or boulder, which Ms. Aguayo later explained was the chiminea. (3 R.T. pp. 407, 490.)

Mr. Aguayo's testimony at trial was inconsistent with some of what he had reported to Officer Leo Benales, the investigating officer who conducted a brief five-to-ten minute interview with Mr. Aguayo in Spanish.

During this interview Mr. Aguayo failed to mention that Ms. Aguayo hit him

on the head with the chiminea, also referred to as a ceramic pot. At the preliminary examination, Mr. Aguayo also failed to relate that this had happened. (2 R.T. pp. 261-262, 268; 3 R.T. pp. 387, 394, 398-399.) Mr. Aguayo also failed to mention to Officer Benales that he had thrown a rock that hit his daughter in the head. (3 R.T. p. 399.)

Mr. Aguayo also told Officer Benales that he was not struck on the back or buttocks. (3 R.T. p. 397.) Mr. Aguayo complained his head and knee hurt and that he hurt all over. (3 R.T. p. 357.) Officer Benales thought Mr. Aguayo appeared dazed and disoriented. (3 R.T. p. 399.) Mr. Aguayo again confirmed to Officer Benales that he had been struck about 50 times in the legs, arms, chest, and on the back of his head. (3 R.T. pp. 401-402.) Officer Benales noticed what he described as a two-inch gash or scrape on Mr. Aguayo's right arm, and some smeared blood on the stomach area. (3 R.T. pp. 382, 384-385.) Mrs. Aguayo, however, described a scratch on one of her husband's arms, and a little bit of blood. She noticed no injuries to his head other than a bump where he had had prior surgeries. (2 R.T. p. 310-311.)

The hospital took ex-rays and performed a CT scan of Mr. Aguayo, and cleared and released him within a couple hours. He had no internal bleeding, no broken bones, and no lacerations on his head. (2 R.T. pp. 245-246.)

Introduction to the Argument

The appellate court below concluded that an actor could violate (a)(1) by committing an assault with a "inherently deadly" weapon even though the assault was not by means of force likely to produce great bodily injury (a)(4)). That lead the appellate court to conclude that (a)(4) is not a lesser-included offense (LIO) of (a)(1) under the elements test. (*Aguayo, supra*, 31 Cal.App.5th at p. 766.) This conclusion was based on dicta from this Court that has been included in CALCRIM No. 875. (*Ibid.*)

But the assault statute evidences no legislative intent to create two classes of deadly weapons. Moreover, the appellate court's interpretation of "inherently deadly" weapon lessens the prosecution's burden of proof by creating a irrebuttable presumption that an "inherently deadly" weapon will always be used in a manner likely to produce great bodily harm or death. It was the grafting of inapposite robbery-arming jurisprudence onto the assault jurisprudence that lead to this constitutionally questionable interpretation. For purposes of the elements analysis (a)(1) should be interpreted as requiring proof that a deadly weapon was used in such a way that it was capable of causing and likely to cause death or great bodily injury. The implication is that if an instrument was *not* used in such a way that it is capable of causing and likely to cause death or great bodily injury, then no violation of subdivision (a)(1) or (a)(4) has occurred, and by further

implication, (a)(4) would be a LIO of (a)(1).

In this case, the LIO issue arises in the context of multiple assault convictions based on the same conduct. If (a)(4) is found to be an LIO of (a)(1), it is an exception to section 954, and the conviction must be vacated. For making this LIO determination, only the elements test applies. (*People v. Sanders* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 731, 737.) Analogizing the elements test to set theory in mathematics, this Court has explained that the test requires a determination of whether one crime's elements are a subset of another crime's elements, and if that is so, the subset is an LIO of the greater offense. (*People v. Fontenot* (2019) 8 Cal.5th 57, 65.)

Section 16590, the successor statute to section 12020, sets forth a list of items that are "generally prohibited" to possess, and includes exceptions to both the general prohibition, as well as specific prohibitions referenced in each listed item. A dirk or dagger is on the generally prohibited list in section 16590, but only when concealed on one's person. (§ 2130.)

The purpose of listing prohibited weapons is prophylactic, aimed at preventing harm before it happens by banning certain types of possession. The assault statute, in contrast, criminalizes conduct causing harm through the deadly use of a weapon. It is for that reason that the "generally prohibited" list of weapons should not be used to define an "inherently deadly" weapon for purposes of the assault statute. Moreover, because the

weapon is actually used, rather than merely possessed, a conviction of an (a)(1) assault is a serious prior and therefore a strike.

A so-called "inherently deadly" weapon used in its ordinarily intended manner, by definition, will have been used with force likely to have caused great bodily injury/death. But when an "inherently deadly" weapon is not employed for its ordinary intended use, it loses its "inherently dangerous" character, just as the actor in the state's hypothetical did not use the dirk or dagger for its ordinarily intended purposes; accordingly, the dagger or dirk should not be considered to be an "inherently deadly" weapon that requires no showing of use capable of causing and likely to cause death or great bodily injury.

In making the suggestion to delete the "inherently deadly weapon" language from the jury instruction in the usual case, this Court also questioned "... whether a policy exists for treating inherently deadly weapons differently from other objects capable of being used as a deadly weapon, particularly since the distinction is not reflected in the text of section 245." (*Aledamat*, 8 Cal.5th at p. 16, fn. 5.) Because the facts in *Aledamat* did not present that question, this Court explicitly left the consideration of this issue "for another day." (*Ibid.*)

Today is that day.

///

ARGUMENT

I. Penal Code Section 245, Subdivision (a)(4), Assault with the Use of Force Likely to Produce Great Bodily Injury, Is a Lesser-Included Offense of Penal Code Section 245, Subdivision (a)(1), Assault with a Deadly Weapon, Under the Elements Test

When the appellate court below concluded that (a)(4), is not an LIO of (a)(1) under the elements test, it identified the dispositive factor: whether an assault with a deadly weapon, when such weapons are "inherently deadly," still requires a manner of use that is likely to produce great bodily injury or death. According to the appellate court here, as (a)(4) requires the use of force likely to produce great bodily injury, (a)(4) cannot be an LIO of (a)(1) because (a)(1) permits the use of the purported "inherently deadly" weapon in a way that is not likely to produce great bodily injury. The appellate court recognized that:

Force-likely assault, then, is only a lesser included offense of assault with a deadly weapon if every assault with a deadly weapon requires that the defendant use the weapon in a way that is likely to produce great bodily injury. Although that will often be the case, it is not necessarily so.

(Aguayo, supra, 31 Cal.App.5th at pp. 764-765.)

To reach this conclusion, the appellate court relied on *People v.*Aguilar (1997) 16 Cal.4th 1023 (Aguilar) and was persuaded by the state's hypothetical in which it posited that an actor could violate (a)(1), without

4

violating (a)(4). In this scenario, the actor employed a dagger to cut a single hair from a sleeping victim's head. The state posited that a dagger is an inherently deadly weapon, and the force used to cut the single strand of hair was sufficient to prove an assault. Because the dagger used was "inherently deadly," the actor violated (a)(1), even though the dagger was not employed in a deadly manner or for a deadly purpose and therefore could not have applied force likely to produce great bodily injury in violation of (a)(4). (Aguayo, supra, 31 Cal.App.5th at p. 766.)

In *Aledamat, supra*. 8 Cal.5th at p. 3, the trial court had erroneously permitted the jury to consider a box cutter as an inherently deadly weapon when it instructed the jury with two possible theories of guilt: (1) that the box cutter was inherently deadly, and (2) that defendant used the box cutter in a deadly way. As a box cutter is not an inherently deadly weapon, this Court found that theory to be erroneous under the facts, but found that the second theory was correct. (*Ibid.*) In finding this error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt under *Chapman v. California* (1967) 386 U.S. 18, this Court recognized that CALCRIM Nos. 875 and 3145, which use the term "inherently deadly weapon," failed to include any definition of "inherently deadly." This Court further observed that this term still is provided to the jury in the majority of cases, even though the weapon used was not inherently deadly as a matter of law. (*Aledamat, supra*, 8 Cal.5th at pp. 3-4,

15-16.) This Court then suggested that the inherently deadly language is unnecessary, because an object that is designed for use as a deadly weapon "will be also used in a way that makes it a deadly weapon." (Id. at p. 16, emphasis added.) This Court concluded that "... the standard instruction might be improved by simply deleting any reference in the usual case to inherently deadly weapons." (Ibid.) This suggestion was limited to the "usual" case, because the Court observed that under current law, some objects are inherently deadly and in those cases, including the "inherently deadly" weapons in the instruction might be appropriate. (Ibid.)

The term "inherently deadly" appears nowhere in the statute itself. If this Court were to adopt the appellate court's view of this hypothetical violation of (a)(1) in which the actor uses a dirk or dagger to cut a single hair of a sleeping person, this interpretation will have eliminated an element of the offense, by creating an irrebuttable presumption and thereby lessening the prosecution's burden of proof. Before deciding how to interpret "deadly weapon" as used in the assault statute, this Court should first look to the wording of the statute and its plain meaning.

///

///

///

A. The Plain Meaning of the Assault Statute Evidences the Legislature's Intent to Criminalize the Actions of One Who Uses An Object or Instrument in a Way That Is Likely to Produce Great Bodily Injury

The first step in discovering the legislative intent of a statute is to read the statute. "We begin with the text of the statute as the best indicator of legislative intent.' (*Tonya M. v. Superior Court* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 836.)" (*San Diegans for Open Government v. Public Facilities Financing Authority of the City of San Diego* (2019) 8 Cal.5th 733, 740.) If there is no ambiguity in the statute, the reviewing court may presume the Legislature meant what it said. In that context, the plain meaning of the statute governs. (*Ceja v. Rudolph & Sletten, Inc.* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 1113, 119.)

If, on the other hand, the language of a statute is ambiguous, a court will consult other indicia of the Legislature's intent, such as extrinsic aids, including legislative history and public policy. Ambiguity exists when the statutory language is susceptible to more than one reasonable meaning. To determine whether the statutory language is susceptible of more than one reasonable meaning, the court construes the words in their usual and ordinary meaning, and considers that language in the context of the entire statute. (*Union of Medical Marijuana Patients, Inc. v. City of San Diego* (2019) 7 Cal.5th 1171, 1184.) If any such ambiguity exists, it should be construed in favor of Ms. Aguayo under the rule of lenity, which applies

where the two interpretations of the statute are reasonable and stand in "relative equipoise." (*People v. Scott* (2014) 58 Cal.4th 1415, 1426.)

1. The Plain Meaning of (a)(1) Does Not Now, and Never Has, Required Any Weapons to be Designated as "Inherently Deadly"

The plain meaning of (a)(1) and (a)(4) of the assault statute is twofold: first, the Legislature intended to criminalize two kinds of assaults: one
with an instrument or object used in a deadly manner, and the other
involving the use of force likely to produce great bodily injury, with or
without employing an instrument extrinsic to the body. As to the (a)(1)
offense, this Court has recognized that while hands and feet can be deadly,
the term weapons, as used in the statute, requires use of an object extrinsic to
the body. so that the assault committed with hands and feet would be an
(a)(4) assault by means of force likely to produce great bodily injury or
death. (*Aguilar, supra*, 16 Cal. 4th at pp. 1026-1027.)

In Aguilar, this Court did not view the addition of the "inherently deadly weapon" term as arising due to any ambiguity in the statute. In fact, in deciding whether a deadly weapon must be extrinsic to the human body, this Court followed the procedure for construing a statute where there is no ambiguity, and reviewed the statute as a whole, in a commonsense manner that avoided rendering any part of the statute superfluous. (Aguilar, supra, 16 Cal.4th at p. 1034.)

This Court has also recognized how the assault statute has evolved from its initial enactment in eliminating the intent and lack of provocation elements, and adding the "force likely" alternative to the "deadly weapon" clause:

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