In the Supreme Court of the State of California MAR 13 2020

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Deputy

Case No. S254554

VERONICA AGUAYO,

Defendant and Appellant.

Appellate District Division One, Case No. SCS295489 San Diego County Superior Court, Case No. D073304 The Honorable Dwayne K. Moring, Judge

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

Any questions regarding the adequacy of existing instructions should be raised in a case that presents those concerns. It would seem that either defining "inherently deadly weapon" or deleting that term from instructions in appropriate cases would resolve any problem. (See *People v. Stutelberg* (2018) 29 Cal.App.5th 314, 318-319.)

Fourth, contrary to appellant's assertions (OBM 52-53), it does not follow that assault with a deadly weapon is a less serious offense than assault by means of force likely to produce great bodily injury. The Legislature was well justified in concluding that an assault with an item

such as a dirk or dagger will often either escalate conflicts or lead to serious injuries, even if no force is employed. In contrast, an assault by means of hands or feet, for example, even if done in a manner likely to produce great bodily injury, does not pose the same risk of escalation or harm to third parties.

II. APPELLANT MAY PROPERLY BE CONVICTED OF BOTH
ASSAULT WITH A DEADLY WEAPON AND ASSAULT BY MEANS
OF FORCE LIKELY TO PRODUCE GREAT BODILY INJURY
EVEN IF THE LATTER CONVICTION IS A LESSER-INCLUDED
OFFENSE

The issues raised by this Court's briefing order do not question whether the two different subdivisions define different offenses rather than different ways of committing the same offense. (See generally, *People v. Vidana* (2016) 1 Cal.5th 632, 650; cf. *People v. Brunton*, *supra*, 23 Cal.App.5th at p. 1107 [§§ 245(a)(2) and (a)(4) are different statements of the same offense].)³ This issue was raised for the first time in appellant's reply brief, and the Court of Appeal appropriately determined it was not adequately preserved. (Opn. at 15.)

Appellant nonetheless reads this Court's briefing order as suggesting that the parties should also address whether the two subdivisions are different statements of the same offense. (OBM 56, 62-66.) This reading is incorrect. The order clearly specifies that the issues to be briefed are limited to whether section 245(a)(4) is a lesser offense of subdivision (a)(1), and "[i]f so," then whether the two convictions were based on the "same act

³ Contrary to *Brunton*, there are good reasons for concluding that the Legislature sought to create two offenses where there was formerly only one—most notably, the fact that the two provisions differ in their elements (as argued above) and were separated in order to attach different punishment consequences to them. (See generally, *People v. White*, *supra*, 2 Cal.5th at pp. 351-352, 354.) Again, however, this issue has not been raised and so respondent does not brief it.

or course of conduct." (Nov. 20, 2019 Order, italics added.) This Court did not order briefing on any further consequences if subdivision (a)(4) is *not* a lesser offense, including issues not properly raised on direct appeal. Consequently, if this Court agrees that assault by means likely to produce great bodily injury is not a lesser offense, the Court need go no further in its analysis.

If, on the other hand, this Court concludes that assault likely to produce great bodily injury is a lesser offense of assault with a deadly weapon, then under *existing* law it is necessary to decide whether the convictions arose out of "the same act or course of conduct." (*People v. Sanders, supra*, 55 Cal.4th at p. 736; *People v. Vidana, supra*, 1 Cal.5th at p. 650.)

Respondent respectfully submits that the appropriate test is not whether the two acts arose during a single course of conduct, but rather whether the greater offense was completed before the lesser offense was committed. Here, appellant completed her assault with a deadly weapon before committing an assault by means of force likely to produce great bodily injury. Accordingly, even assuming the latter is a lesser offense of the former, appellant may appropriately be convicted of both.

A. A Defendant May Properly Be Convicted of a Lesserincluded Offense After a Separate Greater Offense Has Been Completed, Regardless of Whether the Two Acts Comprised a Single Course of Conduct

The origins of the rule prohibiting multiple convictions where a lesser offense arises out of the same course of conduct are murky. As this Court has noted, the precise reasons for the long-held, judicially created prohibition of multiple conviction based on necessarily-included offenses are "unclear." (*People v. Pearson* (1986) 42 Cal.3d 351, 355.) The rule, however, is "logical." (*People v. Ortega* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 636, 705 (dis. opn. of Chin, J.).) "If a defendant cannot commit the greater offense

without committing the lesser, conviction of the greater is also conviction of the lesser. To permit conviction of both the greater and the lesser offense ""would be to convict twice of the lesser." (*Ibid*, quoting *People v. Fields* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 289, 306.) Respondent does not generally challenge this rule—only its extension to multiple acts arising out of a single course of conduct.

In People v. Greer (1947) 30 Cal.2d 589, overruled on other grounds in People v. Fields, supra, 13 Cal.4th at page 289, this Court expressly recognized that a defendant could be convicted of both a greater and a lesser offense—there, contributing to the delinquency of a minor as a lesser offense of both statutory rape and lewd and lascivious conduct—"if separate acts served as the basis of each count." (Id. at p. 600.) As the Court reasoned, "[i]ndeed, defendant can be convicted more than once under the same statute, so long as he is prosecuted for separate acts. The doctrine of included offenses is applicable only when the same act is relied upon for more than one conviction." (Ibid.)

Given the sexual nature of the counts at issue, and because the divisibility of acts in such cases was not, at least at the time, susceptible of exact definition, the *Greer* Court went on to provide guidance to trial courts: "if the touching of the prosecutrix's body charged in the first information was essentially such touching as would be considered a part of the rape itself, it could not serve as a basis for a separate conviction. If, on the other hand, it was clearly not a part of the rape, but a part of a separate course of conduct, it could be held a separate offense." (Ibid., italics added.)

It is not entirely clear when it occurred, but at some point the *Greer* holding that the prohibition on conviction of lesser offenses applies "only when the same act is relied upon for more than one conviction" expanded. In *People v. Nor Woods* (1951) 37 Cal.2d 584, the defendant took money and a car at the same time. This Court held that there was only a single

transaction and therefore only one theft—a correct result, since the defendant had not completed either theft offense by reaching a place of temporary safety. (*Id.* at pp. 586-587.)

In People v. Milward, supra, 52 Cal.4th at page 580, the Court described the rule as prohibiting "simultaneous convictions for both a greater offense and a lesser offense necessarily included within it, when based on the same conduct." (Id. at p. 589.) There, two life inmates attacked a third prisoner, inflicting slash and puncture wounds. The Court held that the conviction for aggravated assault had to be reversed because it was a lesser-included offense of aggravated assault by a life prisoner. (Id. at p. 583.) In reaching this conclusion, however, the Court did not examine whether the two crimes were based on the same acts, or whether instead they were based on a single course of conduct; instead, the Court said simply it was "based on the same conduct." (Id. at p. 589.)

A year later, this Court summarized the rule as applying when the lesser offense arises "out of the same act or course of conduct." (Sanders, supra, 55 Cal.4th at p. 736, citing People v. Moran (1970) 1 Cal.3d 755, 763, Milward, supra, 52 Cal.4th at p. 589, and People v. Medina (2007) 41 Cal.4th 685, 701-702.) None of the three cited decisions, however, supported a separate disjunctive for offenses arising out of the same course of conduct in addition to those offenses arising from the same act.

Respondent urges this Court to reconsider the extension of the prohibition regarding lesser-included offenses to offenses arising out of the same course of conduct. The restriction makes sense where the lesser offense is committed in the course of committing the greater offense. A person who raises his fist (a simple assault) and then proceeds to strike a victim (a battery) could not be convicted of both offenses. (See, e.g., People v. Greer, supra, 30 Cal.2d at p. 597 ["An assault is a necessary element of battery, and it is impossible to commit battery without assaulting

the victim"]; People v. McDaniels (1902) 137 Cal. 192, 194 ["there can be no battery without an assault"].) On the other hand, where the greater offense has been completed, there should be no bar to conviction of a subsequent lesser offense. Thus, in the example above, if the defendant strikes a victim, and thereafter raises his fist to threaten a separate assault, there should be no reason why the defendant could not be charged with both offenses.

This Court has applied the same completed act test in the context of multiple convictions involving the same offense. In *People v. Harrison*, *supra*, 48 Cal.3d 321, for instance, the Court held that the defendant could be convicted of multiple digital penetrations of a victim committed during the course of a continuous 10-minute assault on a victim. The Court concluded that the proper analysis involves a determination of when the charged crime is completed: "that a *new and separate* violation of section 289 is 'completed' each time a *new and separate* 'penetration, however slight' occurs." (*Id.* at p. 329.) Because the defendant had penetrated the victim three separate times, he completed three separate violations. (*Id.* at p. 334.)

Cases applying the *Harrison* completed-act rule have concluded, for example, that a defendant may be convicted of three violations of inflicting a corporal injury on a cohabitant (§ 273.5) arising out of the same course of conduct because the crime was complete upon the willful and direct application of physical force resulting in a wound or injury. (*People v. Johnson* (2007) 150 Cal.App.4th 1467, 1477.) Likewise, another court has held that a defendant could be separately punished for firing three shots at a police officer. (*People v. Trotter* (1992) 7 Cal.App.4th 363, 366-368.) And one court has specifically held that a defendant could be convicted of separate counts of assault with a deadly weapon and assault by means of force likely to produce great bodily injury based on separate acts arising out

of the same course of conduct. (*People v. Kopp* (2019) 38 Cal.App.5th 47, 61-63.)⁴

No different rule should apply to a lesser-included offense committed after the completion of a greater offense. Indeed, in concluding in *Greer* that the defendant could be convicted of a lesser offense if it constituted a separate act, this Court specifically relied on the fact that a defendant could be convicted more than once under the same statute so long as he is prosecuted for separate acts. (*Greer*, supra, 30 Cal,2d at p. 600.)

The question whether a person may be convicted of more than one offense is, of course, separate from the question whether the defendant may be punished for both. (§§ 654, 954; see, e.g., *People Harrison*, *supra*, 48 Cal.3d at p. 334.) Whether two crimes were committed as a part of a single continuous course of conduct is an appropriate consideration for determining punishment under section 654 (see *People v. Corpening* (2016) 2 Cal.5th 307, 311); it may also be appropriate for considering whether there may be more than one conviction where acts were in preparation or completion of a greater offense. But once the greater act has been completed, subsequent acts may properly form the basis for a separate conviction, even if part of an indivisible course of conduct. Just as a person who commits two completed violations of the same statute is more culpable than a person who commits only one (see *People v. Correa* (2012) 54 Cal.4th 331, 342), so too is a person who commits a greater offense and

⁴ On November 13, 2019, this Court granted review of the *Kopp* decision, but limited the issues to be briefed and argued to those relating to a court's duty to consider the defendant's ability to pay fines or fees. (*People v. Kopp*, case no. S257844.)

then a subsequent lesser offense more culpable than a person who stops after completing the greater offense.⁵

B. Appellant's Admission to Striking Her Father Twice with the Chain Provided Ample Evidence to Support Two Separate Counts

In the present case, the multiple assaults occurred during a single course of conduct, as the trial court implicitly concluded in staying punishment for count 3. (5RT 695.) Appellant argues that the prosecutor made no election regarding the act that formed the basis for count 3 as distinct from count 2, that the trial court failed to instruct the jury to make findings necessary to show two separate assaults, and that it is therefore "impossible for this Court to determine that the jury's verdict on the (a)(4) assault was not based on the same evidence as the (a)(1) assault." (OBM 60.)

This Court should reject appellant's limitation that the necessary facts to support two separate counts must be revealed by the jury's verdicts. (See generally, *People v. Aledamat, supra*, 8 Cal.5th at p. 13 ["In determining this impossibility or, more generally, whether the error was harmless, the reviewing court is not limited to a review of the verdict itself"].) As shown below, given appellant's admissions while testifying, there were two separate acts under any possible standard of review.

The assault with a deadly weapon, which the jury found was committed with the bicycle chain (CT 142), was complete when appellant first struck her father with that chain. There was also substantial evidence that appellant went on to strike Luis multiple more times with the chain

⁵ Culpability aside, a rule prohibiting multiple convictions arising out of the same course of conduct could potentially result in an unanticipated windfall as where a jury hangs on a greater offense, but returns a verdict on a lesser charged offense resulting from a single course of conduct. (See *People v. Fields, supra*, 13 Cal.4th at p. 305; § 1023.)

(2RT 159–160), and hit him on the head with the chiminea (2RT 165–166, 206–208, 241, 245). While appellant disputed this latter evidence, even under her version of events, she admittedly went on to strike her father a second time with the chain. (3RT 464, 482.) That second, subsequent act constituted ample evidence of an assault by means of force likely to produce great bodily injury. (See *People v. Hahn* (1956) 147 Cal.App.2d 308, 310-312 [evidence of attack with a beer can sufficient to show assault by means of force likely to produce great bodily injury].)

Based on appellant's admissions of two separate strikes with the chain, the jury would have concluded that two separate aggravated assaults occurred. Appellant argued that she committed these acts in self-defense. (3RT 459.) The jury, however, rejected this defense when it found her guilty. In doing so, it had no basis to distinguish between the two acts she specifically admitted. As appellant acknowledged, at the time she struck him twice, her father had no weapon and had not yet struck her with anything. (3RT 485.) The second strike occurred soon after the first (3RT 464, 482), and the jury's rejection of appellant's claim of self-defense applied with equal measure to this second strike.

Given her testimony and admissions, it can be said under any possible standard that two separate acts supported the two separate counts. (See, e.g., People v. Webb (2018) 25 Cal.App.5th 901, 907 [relying on defendant's admissions to find him guilty of felony murder even without unanimity instruction]; People v. Wolfe (2003) 114 Cal.App.4th 177, 188 [once jury rejected defendant's unitary defense, it would have found him guilty based on his admissions even without a unanimity instruction]; People v. Curry (2007) 158 Cal.App.4th 766, 783-784 ["Where the record indicates the jury resolved the basic credibility dispute against the defendant and therefore would have convicted him of any of the various

offenses shown by the evidence, the failure to give the unanimity instruction is harmless"].)

Hence, even if section (a)(4) is a lesser offense of (a)(1), appellant was properly convicted of both based on her separate acts.

CONCLUSION

Accordingly, for the reasons stated above, respondent respectfully requests this Court affirm the judgment.